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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr D Northmore

	Scheme/Policy
	:
	Scottish Equitable (European Aviation) Group Personal Pension

	Respondents
	:
	AEGON Scottish Equitable (Scottish Equitable) (as Managers)
Rhys Francis & Partners (now Lorica) (as Administrators)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 

1. Mr Northmore has complained that:
1.1. Scottish Equitable failed to exercise its discretion properly in the distribution of the transferred-in non-protected rights element of his father’s death benefits.

1.2. Scottish Equitable failed to notify his father that it was possible to make a nomination in respect of the pension benefits payable under the Scheme.
1.3. Scottish Equitable failed to provide his father with an appropriate nomination form.

1.4. Scottish Equitable misled his father into thinking that the nomination form he had completed dealt with pension as well as lump sum benefits.

1.5. Lorica failed to carry out his father’s instructions in respect of his death benefits.
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS

Trust Deed and Rules

3. Relevant extracts from the Scheme documents are set out in an appendix to this document.
Background
4. Mr Northmore’s father, Mr P Northmore (P), was a member of the Scheme. He had previously been married to Mr Northmore’s mother, but by 1995 was divorced from her.

5. P married C in June 1995. They separated in the following year and P commenced divorce proceedings in October 1996.

6. In April 1997, P requested the return of his marriage certificate from the court because he no longer wanted a divorce. In May 1998, P again initiated divorce proceedings. In January 1999, both P and C requested the dismissal of the original petition for divorce in order to submit a new petition on the grounds of a two year separation.

7. Solicitors acting for Mr Northmore have submitted two unsigned letters from P, dated 4 May 1999 (to C) and 18 May 1999 (to Worthing County Court). In his letter to C, P asked that she submit a decree nisi form within seven days. He said that, otherwise, he would submit his own petition. His letter to the court enclosed his petition and said that he was submitting it because C had not replied to his earlier letter.

8. In 1998, P brought a transfer value into the Scheme from a previous occupational pension scheme. The amount transferred was £74,367 of which £9,289 related to contracted out Protected Rights. The transfer form completed by P in July 1998 included a section entitled, ‘Death Benefit Nomination’. It stated,
“I wish the Scheme Administrator to pay any lump sum benefit to the beneficiaries and in the proportions set out below.  I understand that the Scheme Administrator has absolute discretion as to which of the beneficiaries (if any) it chooses. This nomination is only an expression of my wishes.”
P named Mr Northmore as the beneficiary, to receive 100% of the lump sum benefit.  

9. In November 1998, P completed a Scottish Equitable Death Benefit Nomination Form, requesting that 50% of the benefits should be paid to K, his fiancée at that time, and 50% to Mr Northmore. In January 1999, P completed a fresh Nomination Form requesting that 80% of the benefits should be payable to Mr Northmore and 20% to his first wife. Both Nomination forms included the pre-printed instruction,
“In the event of my death I would like any lump sum benefit due under the scheme rules to be applied for the benefit of the following person(s) in the proportions shown: [the names and proportions then followed as described]”.
They also contained the words,
“I understand that I cannot control the payment of any such benefit through my Will or any other document and that the above request is only an expression of my wishes which is not binding on the Scheme administrator.”

10. In January 1999, P also completed an “Expression of Wish” form addressed to “the Trustees of: European Aviation Death in Service Benefit”. In response to the statement, “I would like the benefits of my Death in Service Scheme to be paid to the following people, I am also detailing the proportion”, P nominated Mr Northmore to receive 60% and his father to receive 40%.

11. P made a will in May 1999; the details are not relevant save that no provision was made in the will for C. The divorce proceedings had not progressed.
12. P died on 18 June 1999, still married to C, who had attained the age of 45 in February that year. On 19 June 1999, Mr Northmore turned 14.
13. Scottish Equitable came to consider how to distribute P’s benefits under the Scheme. There were three elements to those benefits:

17.1 The Protected Rights element deriving from his transfer-in;

17.2 The Non-Protected Rights element deriving from his transfer-in; and
17.3 The Non-Protected Rights element built up by regular contributions to the Scheme.

14. In October 2000, Scottish Equitable wrote to the solicitors acting for P’s estate about their proposed distribution of the benefits,
“… I confirm that a decision has been made as follows:

1. The discretionary benefits (ie the lump sum benefits) will be settled to the deceased’s estate.
2. The non-discretionary benefits (ie the qualifying widow’s pension) will be settled in accordance with current legislation governing protected rights benefits and occupational pensions scheme transfer proceeds.”
15. The estate’s solicitors queried the proposed distribution and, in December 2000, Scottish Equitable wrote again, as follows,
“I write to confirm and clarify the situation as follows:

1.
The Protected Rights value of £12,382 … will be paid as a pension to Mr Northmore’s wife.
2.
A Non Protected Rights [fund] of £90,567 .. will be split as follows:

(a)
£65,026 will be used to purchase a pension for Mr Northmore’s wife.  This is because there has been a large Transfer In to the policy in October 1998 from an Occupational policy and under Inland Revenue regulations 3/4s of this must be used to purchase a pension.
(b)
£21,675 (the remaining ¼ of the Transfer in) + £3,864 (the regular contributions) equalling £25,540, the discretionary benefits, can be paid to Mr Northmore’s estate.  Any decision as to who to pay the benefits to can be made by the persons named on the grant of probate ...”
16. In January 2001, Scottish Equitable paid £28,790.26 to the estate’s solicitors.  Scottish Equitable said that this represented the discretionary lump sum benefits under the Scheme (including the amount from regular premiums which by then had risen to £3,885). As for the non-discretionary benefits, they said that the full value of P’s protected rights (£12,449) had to be paid to the qualifying spouse. The value of the previous transfer-in stood at £99,619, (including the protected rights element amounting to £12,449), and 25% was included in the discretionary lump sum benefit paid to the estate.
17. Scottish Equitable’s distribution of the non-protected rights death benefits arising out of the transfer-in became the subject of a previous application to this office (N00436, February 2006). They took the view that they had no discretion in the distribution of these benefits. It was determined that, whilst the protected rights element of the benefits must be distributed in the prescribed manner, there was a discretion for Scottish Equitable to exercise in the distribution of the non-protected rights element arising out of the transfer-in.
18. Following the above determination, solicitors acting for Mr Northmore wrote to Scottish Equitable asking what system they had in place for reconsidering their decision. The solicitors said that Mr Northmore would wish to make further representations and would want to comment on any representations Scottish Equitable received from C. They submitted a ring binder containing various documents, which Mr Northmore intended to rely upon. These included:
· The various petitions for divorce submitted by P between October 1996 and May 1999.

· A copy of P’s will.

· The various nomination forms completed by P.

· A document labelled “Typed up notes found with Deceased’s personal papers”.

19. Scottish Equitable wrote to Mr Northmore’s solicitors, on 16 March 2006, asking them to arrange for the completion of a “Dependant’s Form” and to provide:

· Details of Mr Northmore’s financial position at the date of his father’s death and any material changes since;

· Details of any settlement received by Mr Northmore from his father’s estate, not including benefits under the Policy; and

· Mr Northmore’s current health and personal circumstances, including details of any employment.

20. In response, Mr Northmore’s solicitors said:

· Mr Northmore wished to see any representations made by C because, in the past, they had not been accurate.

· The documentation concerning the divorce, which they had submitted to Scottish Equitable, indicated that it did not go ahead because C would not sign the appropriate papers and “was trying to lever a financial settlement from the deceased”.

· P had stated that C would not live with him and he had bought his own property in March 1998. He lived separate and apart from C.

· Had Scottish Equitable used their discretion at the appropriate time, Mr Northmore would have been 14 years of age, would have had no savings of his own and would have been dependent upon his mother and P.

· C was not maintained by P and they effectively lived separate lives.

· Mr Northmore remained in full-time education until July 2004. He had taken a part-time job with a supermarket whilst at college to assist in maintaining himself.

· He had subsequently obtained employment on a salary of £10-11,000 p.a.

· He currently earned £12,200 p.a., had no savings and was living with his mother.
· Including the death in service benefit, he would receive £140,000 (net of costs) from his father’s estate.

· He was in good health, single and had no current intention to marry or cohabit.
21. Scottish Equitable sought further clarification as to the sum of £140,000 quoted by Mr Northmore’s solicitors. They asked if this included only the death in service benefit already paid to the estate from the Policy and whether it had been, or when it would be, paid to Mr Northmore. Scottish Equitable also asked if the estate had made any settlement to C.

22. In response, Mr Northmore’s solicitors stated that the £140,000 did not include the amount already paid to the estate from the Policy and had not yet been paid to him. They expressed concern about Scottish Equitable’s query about a settlement with C and said that, had Scottish Equitable exercised their discretion at the time of P’s death, any settlement with C could have been dealt with in the light of such discretion. The solicitors went on to say:
“It is true that [C] has made an application … pursuant to the Inheritance (Provision for Family and Dependants) Act 1975 and the case has been provisionally settled on the basis of a lump sum payment to her of £3,000 which was the lowest possible lump sum that could be paid to her without the Estate being liable for her costs. We can indicate that that settlement was made on a commercial basis rather than on the basis of any entitlement because of the impact of costs which were likely to be recovered. [C] stipulated that that settlement would only hold good if provision made by Scottish Equitable in respect of the pension policy was upheld.

We believe that the exercise of your company’s discretion should not take into account any prospective claim by [C] because that is irrelevant entirely a matter between the Estate and her and that should not cloud the exercise of the discretion.

We can tell you that, by way of example, had the totality of the pension been given to [Mr Northmore] then it would still have been the Estate’s position that [C] was not entitled to any substantive payment because of all the matters we raised with you … but again a small “nuisance value” settlement may have been contemplated …”

23. The solicitors again mentioned that Mr Northmore wished to be given the opportunity to comment on any representations made by C. They said that he would be willing to attend a mediation meeting between Scottish Equitable, C’s representatives and themselves.

24. Scottish Equitable had also written to C’s solicitors on 16 March 2006, asking them to arrange for the completion of a “Dependant’s Form” and to provide:

· Details of C’s financial position at the date of P’s death and any material changes since;

· Details of any settlement received by C from the estate, not including benefits under the Policy; and

· C’s current health and personal circumstances, including details of any employment.

25. C completed the dependant’s form on 22 March 2006. She stated that she was the widow of the deceased and gave Mr Northmore’s details in the section for children of the deceased. In their covering letter, C’s solicitors said:
“[C] says that at the time of her husband’s death she was not working due to a back problem that carried on for years. She has now started back to work in a local pharmacy, working three hours a day, fifteen hours a week. She says this is all she could do owing to the fact that her health is still not right and she is still suffering from back problems.

Our client says that her personal circumstances are that she is still widowed and on her own.

She has not received any settlement from the Estate, other than the benefits received from yourselves.”
26. The solicitors subsequently forwarded a copy of P and C’s marriage certificate to Scottish Equitable.

27. On 24 April 2006, Scottish Equitable issued its decision. The decision document noted the value of the funds to be distributed (£87,170), that there was a Protected Widow (C), that there was a completed nomination form for lump sum death benefits, and that there were two potential beneficiaries (Mr Northmore and C). The decision document stated:

“Under the terms of the Rules the amount falls to be paid under the terms of Rule 13.5. A pension may be paid to a survivor or a payment of 25% of the relevant fund may be paid as a lump sum under the terms of Rule 9.15 with the remaining 75% used to provide a survivors pension. The decision as to what payment is made and the form of that payment (within the terms of the rules) rests with Scottish Equitable alone as Scheme Administrator.

Although a payment has already been made from these funds this has been ignored for the purposes of this decision.

Representations have been made by solicitors acting for both potential beneficiaries. These are contained in the claim file and have been fully read and considered. A brief summary of the beneficiaries position follow.

[C]

· Separated from the deceased at the date of death and in the process of divorce.

· Disputes that divorce would have gone ahead and claims that she and deceased were on good terms and were seeing each other prior to his death.

· No financial settlement from the estate (although small settlement is being pursued).
· She has been unable, until recently, to work due to health problems.

[Mr Northmore]
· His father was actively in the process of obtaining a divorce from [C] at the time of his death.

· Delays in obtaining the divorce were due to financial settlement differences.

· His father did not wish to make any financial provision for [C] and this was reflected in the terms of his will.

· He is the main beneficiary under his father’s will. He is due to inherit a sum of £140,000 in addition to any discretionary payment made from the Policy.

Decision
[P] died leaving a total financial package of circa £243,504. [Mr Northmore] is due to receive a cash settlement of £168,790.26 (£140,000 plus the £28,790.26 already paid from the policy). [C] is receiving annuity the value of which equates to an amount of £75,258.29. The split in payments is therefore 69% to [Mr Northmore] and 31% to [C]. Notwithstanding the divorce action [C] was [P’s] legal wife at the date of his death. She had a right to a level of maintenance and we believe that payments in the region of 31% of the total value of [P’s] financial worth at his death is reasonable.

Our decision is therefore as follows.

· A pension for the 75% of the NPR deriving from transfer in shall be paid to [C]. As this amount has already been included within the purchase price of the annuity being provided, we will leave matters as they stand.

· The balance of the 25% of the NPR deriving from transfer in shall be paid to [Mr Northmore]. As a payment has been made to the estate under which [Mr Northmore] is the sole financial beneficiary we will leave the payment as such.”

28. A copy of Scottish Equitable’s decision was sent to Mr Northmore’s solicitors on 4 May 2006.

29. On 31 May 2006, Mr Northmore’s solicitors wrote to Lorica, enclosing a copy of the previous determination (N00436) and a copy of Scottish Equitable’s recent decision. They said that they did not believe that P’s instructions had been carried out and that this was as a result of the incorrect documentation/information being communicated to Scottish Equitable. Mr Northmore’s solicitors said that they understood that Lorica had taken instructions from P and had assisted him in the completion of Scottish Equitable’s forms. They said that they believed that P had relied upon Lorica’s advice and assistance in communicating his wishes to Scottish Equitable but that this had proved ineffective and that, as a result, Mr Northmore had been financially prejudiced. Mr Northmore’s solicitors said:
“We believe that if an Expression of Wishes dealing with not only the lump sum benefits payable upon Mr Northmore’s death but also the pension benefits had been properly communicated to Scottish Equitable [Mr Northmore] would have been entitled to a “minors pension” arising out of the whole pension fund (excluding the Protective Rights) which would have yielded a considerable income to him which may have inured from the date of death until his 21st/23rd birthday.”

30. In response, Lorica said that P had contacted them in September 1997 on the matter of his transfer-in to the Policy. They said that P had elected to have a report compiled by an external consultancy and had completed the required “Attitude Questionnaire” himself. Lorica said that the research had shown that, if P left his benefits in his previous scheme, there would be no lump sum death benefits paid prior to retirement; although a widow’s benefit would have been provided. They said that P had asked to transfer his previous benefits and it had been recommended that he transfer them to the Scottish Equitable Policy. Lorica said:
“I must stress that taking into account the evidence held on file and … recollection of the meetings and discussions held at the time, [P] was in excellent health and sound state of mind which was expected to continue.

When the deceased signed the transfer forms in February 1998, he confirmed that he was separated from his wife, [C], and he did not think he would be married when he retired. [P] completed the application form, Expression of Wishes section, nominating [Mr Northmore] to be the sole recipient of the lump sum death benefit. The policy Schedule was issued to [Mr Northmore] on 11th November 1998.

On the 17th November 1998, [P] contacted … requesting a new Expression of Wishes form. No advice was sought or given. This was returned completed nominating [K] … 50% and [Mr Northmore] 50%.

On 5th January 1999, [P] contacted … again only requesting a new Expression of Wishes form. Again no advice was sought or given. This was returned nominating [Mr Northmore] 80% and … [P’s] ex wife, 20%.
No further correspondence took place after this date. As the last meeting … held with [P] was February 1998, subsequent to this date … was not aware of his state of mind, health or marital status and cannot be held responsible for [P’s] actions.

The advice provided to [P] at the time was appropriate to his needs and aspirations.

The main points I would like to stress are:

1
Had the Occupational Pension not been transferred to a Personal Pension [Mr Northmore] would not have received any lump sum benefits …

2
Subsequent to the Pension Transfer, [P] did not seek or receive any advice from [Lorica], though he instigated changes of his own accord

3
[P] confirmed to … that his dependants will receive significant sums upon his death and whilst a greater amount might be beneficial it was not a priority to him

…”

31. Lorica have provided a copy of a letter written to P on 3 July 1998, containing their recommendation. The letter listed the aspects of P’s situation which had been taken into account in formulating this recommendation. These included:
· P was currently separated.

· His state of health was excellent and was expected to continue as such.

· He had no dependent children living at home.

· The benefits with his ex-employer represented a major proportion of his pension funding and he wished to protect this as far as possible.

· His dependants would receive significant sums on his death and, whilst a greater amount might be beneficial, this was not a priority.

· He wished to maximise the benefits payable to him during his lifetime because he did not expect to be married when he retired.

· His first priority was the provision of lump sum benefits upon his death before retirement.

32. On the question of death benefits, the letter stated:

“I believe that the main possible justification for a transfer could be your stated desire to maximise the level of death benefits should you die before retirement which, as you will see …, are substantially higher if your benefits are transferred to a personal pension.
…

Overall then, a transfer may give greater levels of death benefits but your main decision is whether to accept a higher level of risk in return for the potentially higher rewards …”

33. The majority of the letter dealt with P’s personal benefits.

SUBMISSIONS
On Behalf of Mr Northmore

34. Mr Northmore’s solicitors submit:

With regard to the decision
34.1. Mr Northmore should have been given the opportunity to comment on the case put forward by C.

34.2. There was a conflict of interest on Scottish Equitable’s part because they would suffer a financial prejudice if they decided in Mr Northmore’s favour. Scottish Equitable should have appointed an independent third party to exercise the discretion.

34.3. There is a problem with Scottish Equitable exercising the discretion again because the issues of: (a) conflict of interest, (b) perceived or actual bias or (c) breach of the rules of natural justice, will always apply. If the Deputy Ombudsman were to take the view that the discretion should be exercised again, it should be carried out by an independent third party.
34.4. C’s position should have been regarded with a large measure of caution bearing in mind her financial interest in the exercise of the discretion. She would have wished to justify her own personal position bearing in mind the significant provision received in the light of no financial commitment from the deceased.
34.5. C disputes that the divorce would have gone ahead and says that she and P were on good terms and seeing each other prior to his death. This is contradicted by a letter written by P and found with his personal papers.

34.6. Every document that P signed in relation to his pension and his assets named persons other than C as beneficiaries and all of them named Mr Northmore as a significant beneficiary. For example, P’s will, dated 22 May 1999, does not bequeath anything to C.
34.7. It is most likely that, on the balance of probability, P believed that the form he signed, headed “Death Benefit Nomination Form”, was giving a written direction to Scottish Equitable as to whom he wanted all the benefits payable under the Scheme to go. This was the only document provided by Scottish Equitable for the purposes of nominating death benefits and appears to have been passed to P without any detailed advice.

34.8. It is likely that Lorica would have advised P to sign the “Death Benefit Nomination Form” to give the best possible indication of to whom he wished the death benefits to go. Mr Northmore believes that no distinction would have been drawn by Lorica between the lump sum benefit and the pension benefits.

34.9. P was a lay person without specialist knowledge and could not have been expected to know, nor is it reasonable to assume that he knew, that the form did not deal with all the death benefits. The lump sum benefits are only referred to in the “small print”. It is likely, on the balance of probability, that he was misled by the form.

34.10. Scottish Equitable should have considered, as a major consideration in reaching their decision, whether P had given any indication of what he would have wished done with any death benefit. There is no evidence that they did so. Scottish Equitable could have asked Lorica whether they had any written or other evidence as to what P would have wished to happen. Had they done so, they would have received a clear indication that P did not want C to receive any of the benefits. Mr Northmore’s solicitors cite a letter from Lorica to themselves, dated 13 February 2001, which stated:
“I do totally agree with you that it was not [P’s] intentions to see his ex-wife obtain any money from the Pension. Unfortunately it does appear however that the rules seem to go against him because he had not actually got divorced and that some of the monies have been transferred from a previous Pension Scheme. Nonetheless I do believe that it is worth pursuing because it does seem highly inappropriate that she should benefit from such a situation …”
34.11. With regard to Scottish Equitable’s decision, far too much weight was placed on the total financial package left by the deceased and the percentage distribution. No weight was placed on the evidence before Scottish Equitable that P did not wish C to have any benefit from his pension. Too much weight was placed on C’s status as P’s legal wife at the date of his death. No weight appears to have been given to the almost non-existent nature of their relationship.
34.12. Mr Northmore disagrees with Scottish Equitable’s statement to the effect that C “had a right to a level of maintenance”. He is of the opinion that it was wrong of Scottish Equitable to make that type of decision and that they are usurping the function of the court.

34.13. They believe the facts of the matter to be:

· P was not living with C at the time of his death and had not done so for some considerable time. This is corroborated by the documentary evidence.

· Mr Northmore believes that P was not paying C any maintenance and had not done so for some considerable time. C had not applied to the court for maintenance.

· C had reverted to her previous name, continued to live in the property she had before she met P, and was maintaining herself.

34.14. The decision made by Scottish Equitable was not one which a reasonably independent or legally appropriate person exercising their discretion properly could have come to.

34.15. Having, in the course of my investigation, seen the dependant’s form completed by C in March 2006, Mr Northmore’s solicitors made the following further submissions:

· C indicated that her marital status, at the time of P’s death, was “widowed”. She was not widowed, she was separated.

· C signed herself using the surname “Northmore”; she should have used her previous name. This misrepresented her position and was intended to give the impression that she and P were having an ongoing relationship at the time of his death, which was untrue.

· C is recorded on the electoral register under her former name. They believe that she is misrepresenting herself to Scottish Equitable by using the surname Northmore.

· C indicated on the form that she was a dependant of P. She has provided no evidence to Scottish Equitable that she was dependent on P and they do not believe that such evidence exists. The marriage was in name only.

· The best that C can argue is that she was technically married to P. For all other purposes there was no effective connection and P was divorcing her.

· Scottish Equitable made provision for C as if she was the ongoing wife of P and as if she was being maintained by him. There is no cogent evidence that this was the case.
· It was wrong for Scottish Equitable to withhold the information supplied by C. She had asked to become involved in the process and had therefore submitted herself and information about herself to the process.

· It is not correct, fair or reasonable that an interested party should be able to make representations without them being tested by other interested parties.

34.16. They assert that it is inconceivable that a properly directed person taking all relevant matters into account and excluding all irrelevant matters would come to the conclusion that Mr Northmore was not entitled to significantly more than his current entitlement, if not the entirety, of his father’s pension fund.

34.17. Scottish Equitable do not have an “absolute” discretion; they have a discretion, which must be exercised in accordance with the law, taking into account relevant matters and excluding irrelevant matters. The Deputy Ombudsman must be satisfied that they took into account all relevant matters. Scottish Equitable did not take into account the fact that C was not dependent upon P or that she was separated from him.
With regard to advising P
34.18. Scottish Equitable play down their role as a pension provider and try to divest themselves of their responsibility. As pension provider, they owed Mr Northmore a duty of care.
With regard to the provision of a nomination form for the pension
34.19. No detailed consideration was given to this point, by the Ombudsman, in the previous determination. There was no discussion of both parties’ position and no indication of an investigation into industry standards.

34.20. Scottish Equitable have admitted that there is no standard form for the disposition of the pension benefits. They have said that this is because no-one has asked for one.

34.21. They believe that Scottish Equitable should have provided one full and comprehensive form or given clear indication that the nomination form was not comprehensive.

34.22. Had a comprehensive nomination form been provided, it is likely that P would have executed it and Scottish Equitable would have been bound by Rule 9.1 (see Appendix).
34.23. The Deputy Ombudsman should investigate what the industry standard is for the provision of such a form, what might be in the public interest and what might be good administration.

34.24. The provision of such a form is a fundamental part of pensions administration. They have enclosed forms provided by two other companies, which deal with all death benefits and not just the lump sum. The provision of all encompassing forms is known within the industry and should have been provided by Scottish Equitable.
34.25. If no form at all had been provided, Lorica would have had to have specific instructions from P and then communicated those to Scottish Equitable. The provision of a form which dealt only with the lump sum caused the problem.
With regard to the misleading nature of the nomination form
34.26. Unless Lorica gave definitive advice to P regarding the nomination form, it is likely that he was misled by the form.

34.27. The form is headed “Death Benefit Nomination Form”, in block capitals and underlined. It does not say “Lump Sum Death Benefit Nomination Form” nor does it say that separate directions should be given for the pension benefits. It is only further down the form that the lump sum benefit is mentioned and this is in substantially smaller font, lower case and not underlined.

34.28. If the nomination form is considered to be the correct and proper way of dealing with the lump sum death benefits only, then Lorica, as independent financial advisers, should have given clear advice to P that the form did not deal with the pension benefits.

In respect of Lorica’s role
34.29. Lorica owed a duty of care to P and were aware that he was estranged from his wife.
34.30. At no time were they informed that he had got divorced. This was an important piece of information which they should have obtained. They assumed a change in P’s marital status without having direct instruction or details.
34.31. Lorica’s letter of 13 February 2001 (see above) makes it clear what they believed P’s wishes to be.

34.32. Lorica provided P with the nomination form and forwarded the completed form to Scottish Equitable. P did not deal with Scottish Equitable directly.

34.33. P gave no instructions to Lorica to the effect that he wanted the pension benefits to be dealt with in a different way to the lump sum benefit.
34.34. Lorica knew who P wanted to receive the pension benefits and should have told him that the nomination form did not cover these benefits. If P had been made aware of this, he would have had the opportunity to make a definite written direction for the pension benefits.
34.35. Lorica say that no advice was given to P and therefore, on the balance of probability, he would have thought that the form dealt with the whole of the death benefits.

34.36. Lorica failed to provide advice with regard to the difference between pension and lump sum benefits and, as a result, P was not able to express a view as to where he wanted the pension benefits to go.

34.37. P was not a financial adviser or a pensions expert and, unless he was advised, it cannot be assumed that he knew the difference between pension and lump sum benefits.

34.38. Lorica have not demonstrated that they gave advice to P with regard to the difference between pension and lump sum benefits. They have not demonstrated that, by completing the Scottish Equitable form, P knew that he was not dealing with pension benefits. They were under an obligation to give P advice with regard to the benefits under the Scheme.
34.39. If such advice had been given, P could have given instructions to Lorica to confirm to Scottish Equitable what his wishes were, or he could have done so himself. It is inconceivable that, had he been given the option to specify precisely where he wanted the pension benefits to go he would not have done so. The lack of advice from Lorica was the only reason P did not make a specific nomination in respect of the pension benefits.

Scottish Equitable

35. Scottish Equitable submit:

35.1. The question of the exercise of discretion depends on the terms of the Rules governing the Scheme. The previous determination made it clear that Scottish Equitable had the sole discretion to decide which survivor or survivors should receive the annuity.

35.2. In complying with the directions given in the previous determination, they sought information from all relevant parties. Once they were of the opinion that they had sufficient information, they considered the case and made a decision. Their reasoning was set out in their decision document.

35.3. With regard to a conflict of interest, the Ombudsman has previously found that it would be premature to assume that a decision maker would not exercise its discretion in a fair and unbiased manner before it had had the opportunity to review a case.

35.4. Both the courts and the Ombudsman have acknowledged that there may be a number of different outcomes to the exercise of discretion. The fact that the decision maker favours one party over another does not negate the validity of the decision. As long as the decision is reasonable given the facts before the decision maker, it is valid. They strongly believe that they made all reasonable enquiries as to the facts, that they made a decision which was permitted by the Rules and that the decision was not perverse.
35.5. They have not seen any definitive written evidence as to what P’s concerns or wishes were (other than in relation to the lump sum death benefits). Submissions made by Mr Northmore and by C differ as to what P wanted; Mr Northmore says that P did not want C to benefit, C says that P had led her to believe that she would be looked after. With competing claims, the decision maker will always face a difficult choice. They cannot be judgmental about the claims or counter claims. A decision has to be made and that decision may prove to be unpopular with one or possibly both parties. All they can do is take a holistic view of the facts and make an informed, fair and reasonable decision. They believe that this is what they have done.

35.6. It is supposition to suggest that P believed that the form he had signed covered all of the death benefits. The form made it clear that it covered the lump sum death benefit only.

35.7. With regard to providing a nomination form for the pension benefits, they believe this was dealt with in the previous determination. In any event, there was no obligation in law for them to make such a form available to Mr Northmore’s father.

35.8. They had not previously seen the letter from Lorica dated 13 February 2001. If it was considered to be important, it should have been brought to their attention when Mr Northmore’s solicitors submitted the rest of their evidence.
35.9. Both parties had a financial interest in the exercise of the discretion. The decision was based on the facts available to them; not on the volume of papers sent or the claims made by one party against the other. They consider that they had sufficient information to make the decision and sought clarification when it was deemed necessary.
35.10. C was a beneficiary and entitled to be considered for the payment of the death benefits. The fact that she was not named as a beneficiary in the documentation relating to P’s estate does not lessen her position as the legal spouse or her ability to benefit from a pension arising out of her late husband’s policy.
35.11. With regard to Mr Northmore’s request to comment on any response they received from C, they decided that they should not and could not pass the responses on. Their reasoning was:

· The decision was theirs alone. It was incumbent upon them to make all relevant enquires as to the facts. There was no requirement for them to circulate those facts and invite debate as to what the decision should be.

· The Ombudsman had imposed a 56 day time limit on making the decision. They only received the response from C on 4 April 2006. Forwarding the response would have delayed their decision.
· They concluded that the response from C included personal information and should be dealt with confidentially. They felt that there was support for this stance in previous determinations
, where the Ombudsman had acknowledged that it was a difficult line for trustees to draw between protecting people’s confidentiality and ensuring that they had accurate information on which to base their decision.

· The Trustees gave reasons for their decision without revealing the source of their information or unduly infringing C’s rights to privacy.

35.12. Their relationship with P was as the provider of his pension. They had neither a contractual obligation to provide advice to policy holders nor had they assumed a responsibility to do so. P’s employer had retained the services of a financial adviser to provide advice as to the provisions of the Scheme. If P had concerns as to the distribution of the proceeds of his policy on his death, Lorica were available to advise him. If Lorica were uncertain as to the terms of the contract, they could have asked Scottish Equitable. They have no record of being asked for any clarification.
35.13. The nomination form was clear that it dealt with lump sum death benefits.

Lorica

36. Lorica submit:

36.1. They stand by their response to Mr Northmore’s solicitors (see above).

C

37. As with the previous investigation, C was notified that a further application had been made, which might affect her interests. She restated her submission that P had led her to believe that she would be “looked after”. C stated that P submitted the various divorce papers after arguments and would “rip them up” when they made up. She refutes the claim that there was no contact between her and P. She also says that she has always been known by her previous surname and Northmore. She explains that she was previously married and has two children from that marriage. She says that P told her not to change her name because of the children.
CONCLUSIONS
The Nomination

38. Mr Northmore has raised the following issues concerning the nomination of a recipient for a Survivor’s pension:

· That Scottish Equitable should have provided a nomination form which dealt with the pension benefits.

· That Scottish Equitable did not advise P that he could make such a nomination.

· That P was misled by the nomination forms and thought that he was making a nomination in respect of pension as well as lump sum benefits.

39. On the first point, there was no absolute requirement for Scottish Equitable to provide such a form. The fact that other companies do provide such a form does not establish a requirement for Scottish Equitable to do so. It was entirely possible for P to make a choice, under Rule 9.1, simply by writing to Scottish Equitable. However, I tend to agree with the view expressed in the previous determination, that the provision of such a form might avoid cases such as this arising in the first place. However, I would not go as far as to say that the failure to provide a form specifically for the choice of recipient for pension benefits under Rule 9.1 amounts to maladministration.
40. Because Rule 9.2 applied, Rule 9.1 did not. This did not, of course, prevent P from making a choice of recipient. Rule 9.2 provides that, where the member has not made a choice, Scottish Equitable may do so. By implication, if the member has made a choice, there is no provision for Scottish Equitable to do so.

41. The argument put forward on Mr Northmore’s behalf is that, had a nomination form covering the pension benefits existed, P would have completed and returned it and, further, that he would have nominated Mr Northmore to receive the pension benefits. This is, of course, speculation (albeit informed speculation). I have considerable sympathy with Mr Northmore, but I do not consider it safe to make the kind of assumptions I am being invited to make. P had filled in a number of nomination forms (for the lump sum) and had changed his mind on a number of occasions. It is difficult to draw the conclusion that he would have returned a form of this type at all, let alone what choice of recipient he might have made. Lorica’s report indicates that P’s priority was the distribution of the lump sum benefits. He may have considered that the fact that he did not think that he would be married in the near future removed the need to consider pension benefits. This, too, is speculation and illustrates why it is unsafe to make assumptions in this case.
42. On the second point, Scottish Equitable argue that they were not P’s advisers; they administered the pension scheme. In view of the fact that Lorica had been providing advice for P, I am not persuaded that Scottish Equitable were required to provide further advice to P concerning his death benefit nomination.

43. On the third point, I am not persuaded that Mr Northmore has been able to make the case for P having been misled. The “Death Benefit Nomination Form” provided by Scottish Equitable is a relatively simple form. The statement, to the effect that the member would like the “lump sum benefit” applied for the benefit of the persons subsequently indicated, is positioned directly above the space for the names and addresses of those persons. To my mind, the only way in which P could have been unaware that he was making a nomination in respect of a lump sum benefit was if he failed to read this statement. Such failure cannot be laid at Scottish Equitable’s door. I do not find that the form was misleading.

44. I am happy to accept that P was not a pensions expert, but equally I do not think he needed to be a pensions expert to understand the difference between a pension benefit and a lump sum benefit. 

Scottish Equitable’s Decision
45. Scottish Equitable were required to exercise their discretion as to the distribution of the non-protected rights element of the death benefits arising out of P’s transfer-in.
46. It is not disputed that both Mr Northmore and C are potential beneficiaries under the Scheme Rules.
47. I am satisfied that Scottish Equitable made appropriate enquiries prior to making their decision. Mr Northmore’s solicitors have suggested that Scottish Equitable should have contacted Lorica and would, thereby, have been able to obtain further information as to P’s wishes. They refer to the letter written by Lorica on 13 February 2001. If they considered this letter to be significant, I am surprised that they did not include it in the bundle of documents submitted to Scottish Equitable in March 2006. Having said this, the letter merely expresses the adviser’s view of what P might have wished; it does not offer any more compelling evidence of P’s wishes than that which was already available to Scottish Equitable. I am not persuaded that Lorica would have been able to supply Scottish Equitable with any significant additional evidence. Certainly nothing of significance has been produced subsequently.
48. Since P had not chosen a recipient for a Survivor’s pension under Rule 9.1, Scottish Equitable had the discretion to choose a recipient or recipients. That discretion could not be fettered by inferences concerning P’s views drawn from elsewhere. That is not to say that I would condone ignoring those views, but I am not persuaded that Scottish Equitable did ignore the material supplied by Mr Northmore’s solicitors. They provided a clear and fair summary of both parties’ positions in their decision document, which indicates that they had considered the evidence provided by both sides. Not being persuaded by evidence is not the same as ignoring it.
49. Mr Northmore had asked to see any representations made by or on behalf of C. Scottish Equitable took the decision not to circulate the submissions. I am not wholly convinced by the reasons they have given. With regard to the time limit, I am sure a slight overrun would not have presented a problem. With regard to the confidentiality of the information provided, I do have some sympathy with Scottish Equitable but, in this particular case, the information does not seem to warrant the concern. Having said this, I am not persuaded that Mr Northmore’s case was prejudiced in the slightest by his not having seen C’s response. The information contained therein was basic and factual. Mr Northmore had already conveyed his views about C’s circumstances, and I do not see that there was more to add in light of her representations. The arguments put forward by Mr Northmore’s solicitors, once they had seen the response, are less than persuasive.
50. Scottish Equitable’s decision was largely based upon:
· The division of the total financial package left by P.

· The fact that C was P’s legal spouse at the time of his death.

I am not persuaded that it has been shown that Scottish Equitable took into account any irrelevant matters or that there were relevant matters which they failed to consider. Mr Northmore’s solicitors suggest that Scottish Equitable failed to consider the fact that P and C were separated at the time of his death and that C was not dependent upon P. I am not persuaded that this was the case. The decision document clearly refers to the fact that C was separated from P at the time and also that there had been no other financial provision made for her.
51. It is conceivable that another decision maker could have come to a different decision. In such circumstances there is often a range of decisions which can reasonably be made. As Scottish Equitable suggest, it is often the case that the decision is unpopular with one or more of the parties concerned. This, of itself, does not render the decision perverse. I am not persuaded that the decision reached by Scottish Equitable was outside the range of possible reasonable decisions it could have made.
52. Scottish Equitable obviously had an interest in preserving the status quo. However, I am not persuaded that it was necessary or desirable for them to have engaged a third party to reconsider the decision, even if some way could have been found to allow them to do so. Reaching the decision to pay the pension to C was always going to leave Scottish Equitable open to an accusation by Mr Northmore that they had not exercised their discretion properly. However, it would be equally improper for them to come to a different decision simply to avoid such an accusation.
Lorica’s Role

53. Mr Northmore asserts that Lorica failed to carry out his father’s instructions with regard to the pension benefits. I am not persuaded that he has been able to show that his father gave any such instructions to Lorica. I have seen no evidence to show that P made any enquiries as to what pension benefits were payable or to whom they might be paid. Nor have I seen any evidence that P informed or instructed Lorica that he wished the pension benefits to be disposed of in the same way as the lump sum benefits. It is not sufficient for Mr Northmore’s solicitors to argue that P did not instruct Lorica that he wanted the pension benefits to be disposed of in a different way to the lump sum benefit. Lorica could not have acted further without a specific instruction from P.
54. Mr Northmore’s solicitors have suggested that Lorica would have advised P to complete the nomination form to indicate how the pension benefits should be distributed. This is mere speculation. 

55. Lorica’s recommendations, prepared for P in 1998, were based on a reported desire on his part to maximise the benefits payable during his lifetime and the lump sum benefit payable on his death. This is the only contemporary written evidence of the advice provided by Lorica. It does not indicate that P sought their advice on the pension benefits payable on his death or that he instructed them as to the disposal of those benefits.

56. Mr Northmore’s solicitors assert that Lorica should have advised P with regard to the difference between pension and lump sum benefits. They suggest that it is “inconceivable” that P would not have taken steps to nominate Mr Northmore for the pension benefits if he had received such advice. They suggest that the only reason that P did not make a specific nomination in respect of the pension benefits is because of a lack of advice from Lorica.
57. With regard to the first point, it is clear that Lorica did discuss the provision of death benefits with P. Their report indicates that, whilst P wished to provide for some form of death benefits, this was not a priority for him and that, of the death benefits he wished to provide, the lump sum benefit was a priority. As I have said, P would not have needed to be a “pensions expert” to grasp the difference between a pension and a lump sum. I am not convinced that he lacked this understanding or that Lorica somehow failed him in this respect.
58. With regard to making a specific nomination for the pension benefits, I cannot agree that it is either “inconceivable” that P would not have made a nomination or that a lack of advice from Lorica is the only reason he did not do so. Lorica’s report indicates that P’s priority was the provision of lump sum death benefits, which tends to reinforce the view that he knew these were distinct from pensions benefits. In their report, Lorica referred to an expectation on P’s part that he would not be married at his date of death. From this, one might infer that the provision of a spouse’s pension was not a priority for him at that time. It is also not “inconceivable” that P did not give much thought to providing a pension for a son he might have assumed would be an independent adult at the time of his father’s death and, hence, was more concerned with the provision of lump sum benefits. This is, of course, mere speculation, but I offer it simply as an illustration to show that Lorica’s advice was not the only, or even the major, influence on P’s actions at that time.
59. Lorica’s recommendations were based on the information provided by P at the time. Lorica noted that he was, at that time, separated, i.e. married, but did not expect to be married at the time of his death. They were not required to ascertain whether P subsequently divorced.
60. Mr Northmore’s assertion is largely based upon his strongly held belief that his father did not intend to provide for C on his death. This belief may well be shared by P’s adviser (as evidenced by the letter of 13 February 2001). However, this is not sufficient to establish that Mr Northmore’s father gave Lorica instructions which they then failed to convey to Scottish Equitable or that they failed to provide him with appropriate advice.
CHARLIE GORDON
Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

13 March 2008

APPENDIX
Trust Deed and Rules

61. The Scheme is governed by Scottish Equitable’s Standard Reflex Personal Pension Deed and Rules. 

62. The following definitions are contained in Rule 2 of the Scheme Rules:

· “Dependant” means an individual who is or who immediately before a Member’s death or retirement was financially dependent on the Member.  It includes a Member’s child or adopted child who has not attained age 18 or has not ceased to receive full-time educational or vocational training.

· “Protected Widow” means a widow of the Member who, when the Member dies, either is aged 45 or over or is entitled to child benefit for a Qualifying Child under age 18, or is living with a Qualifying Child under age 16.

· “Survivor” means a Dependant or widow or widower of a Member who has died. 

· “Member’s Fund” means the aggregate … of the accumulated values of the contributions paid to the Scheme by or in respect of the Member and any transfer payment accepted by the Scheme in respect of the Member [certain exclusions are mentioned which are not relevant here].  

· “Scheme Administrator” means the person appointed under Rule 16.2 who is responsible for the management of the Scheme.

63. Rule 9 provides as follows:

“MEMBER DIES BEFORE THE PENSION STARTS
9.1 Member’s choice  If allowed to do so under the Scheme, the Member may choose that, if he or she dies before the pension starts, the Member’s Fund will be used to buy from an Insurer a Survivors’ pension, ie a pension for –

(1) the widow or widower; and/or

(2) one or more Dependants.

Alternatively the Member may choose for the Member’s Fund to be used to pay a lump sum under Rule 9.15 and, if applicable, Rule 9.14.  But, if Rule 9.2 applies, Rule 9.1 will not apply.

9.2 Protected Rights Fund – Compulsory.  If a Member with a Protected Rights Fund dies before the pension starts, the Scheme Administrator must take reasonable steps to find out whether the Member is survived by a Protected Widow or Widower.

If the Scheme Administrator discovers that the Member is survived by a Protected Widow or Widower, then the Member’s Protected Rights Fund must be used to buy the Protected Widow or Widower a pension unless the Scheme Administrator decides to pay a lump sum under Rule 9.7 [Lump Sum instead of Small Pension].  The rest of the Member’s Fund (if any) must be used, either to buy further pension for the Protected Widow or Widower or to buy a pension for another widow, widower, Dependant or for any other Dependants of the Member.  If the Member has not chosen the recipient or recipients, the Scheme Administrator may do so. 

…

9.15 Non-Protected Rights Fund – Lump Sum.   Subject to Rule 13.5, if a Member dies and no Survivor’s pension has become payable under Rule 9.1 or Rule 9.2, then the Scheme Administrator may, as soon as practicable and subject to Rule 9.16 [lump sum payable within 2 years], pay out the Member’s Fund (other than any Protected Rights Fund) as a lump sum:

(1)
In accordance with any specific provision regarding payment of such sums under the contract or contracts applying to the Arrangements in question; or

(2)
if (1) is not applicable and at the time of the Member’s death  the Scheme Administrator is satisfied that the policy is subject to a valid trust, to the Trustees …; or

(3)
if (1) and (2) are not applicable, at the discretion of the Scheme Administrator to or for the benefit of any one of the following in such proportions as the Scheme Administrator decides:

(a)
any persons (including trustees) whose names the Member has notified to the Scheme Administrator in writing prior to the date of the Member’s death;

(b)
the Member’s surviving spouse, children and remoter issue;

(c)
the Member’s Dependants;

(d)
the individuals entitled under the Member’s Will to any interest in the Member’s estate;

(e)
the Member’s legal personal representative.” 

64. Rule 13.5 of the Scheme Rules provides as follows:

“13.5
Lump Sum Restriction on Death If the Member dies before the pension starts the Scheme Administrator must use any part of the Member’s Fund which derives from a transfer payment … either:

(a)
by using it wholly to buy Survivors’ pensions as described in Rule 9; or

(b)
by paying up to 25% (one quarter) of it as a lump sum in the way described in Rule 9.15 and by using the rest of it to buy Survivors’ pensions as described in Rule 9.  If there is no surviving widow or widower and there is no Dependant to whom a pension has become payable, the whole may be paid as a lump sum …”

65. Rule 16.2 provides:

“The Scheme Administrator is responsible for discharging the duties imposed by these Rules and by the Act [the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988].”

The Scheme Administrator is named in the Appendix to the Rules as Scottish Equitable.

66. Clause 11 (a) of the Deed provides:

“Where any lump sum benefit is to be paid following the death of a Member or Survivor and it falls to the Scheme Administrator to decide to whom the benefit is payable, the Scheme Administrator may, but is not bound to, take into account any selection of Beneficiaries or recipients made by the Member or by any other party nominated by the Member for this purpose.

In making any selection or payment hereunder the Scheme Administrator shall not be acting as a trustee and shall not be obliged to enquire or investigate (other than to take reasonable steps to ascertain that any proposed payee is a person entitled to payment in terms of the Rules) and shall not be liable to account in any way to any person for an selection made.”
� The form actually asks for the marital status of the deceased at the time of death.


� Scottish Equitable cite P00664/665 [2007]


� Scottish Equitable cite P00883 [2005], Stephens v Michelin Pensions Trust Limited [2006] EWHC 1640(Ch) 
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